# (THIO)UREA-CATALYZED FORMATION OF HETEROCYCLIC COMPOUNDS

# Eugenia Marqués-López\* and Raquel P. Herrera\*

Laboratorio de Organocatálisis Asimétrica, Departamento de Química Orgánica, Instituto de Síntesis Química y Catálisis Homogénea (ISQCH), CSIC-Universidad de Zaragoza, E-50009 Zaragoza, Spain (e-mail: mmaamarq@unizar.es; raquelph@unizar.es)

Abstract. The importance of (thio)urea organocatalysts for the efficient construction of N-, O- and S-heterocyclic compounds is briefly disclosed. Thus, in this chapter, representative examples where the heterocyclic ring is formed in the course of the reactions promoted by those chiral catalysts are covered. This compilation excludes examples where there is no new heterocyclic moiety in the final product, with respect to the starting compounds. The use of these methodologies allows the obtainment of a wide variety of heterocyclic structures, such as tetrahydro- $\beta$ -carbolines, 1,4-dihydropyridines, indolines, pyrrolidines, 2-amino-4H-chromene derivatives, flavanones, chromanones, pyrans, tetrahydrofurans and benzothiopyrans. This kind of structures is present in natural products and biologically active compounds, being of great interest in Pharmacological Chemistry.

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Synthesis of N-heterocyclic compounds
  - 2.1. Synthesis of tetrahydro-β-carbolines
  - 2.2. Synthesis of 1,4-dihydropyridines
  - 2.3. Synthesis of indolines
  - 2.4. Synthesis of pyrrolidines
- 3. Synthesis of O-heterocyclic compounds
  - 3.1. Synthesis of 2-amino-4H-chromene derivatives
  - 3.2. Synthesis of flavanones and chromanones
  - 3.3. Synthesis of pyrans and their fused derivatives
  - 3.4. Synthesis of tetrahydrofurans
- 4. Synthesis of S-heterocyclic compounds
  - 4.1. Synthesis of benzothiopyrans (or thiochromanes)
- 5. Conclusions
- References

# 1. Introduction

In the last years, catalysts acting through hydrogen bonds have fascinated the scientists, becoming the center of research of many groups. This kind of activation represents a significant part of the organocatalysis field.<sup>1</sup> Among the different types of hydrogen bond based catalysts, chiral thiourea/urea derivatives are of great interest and have been focus of intensive studies, resulting to be appropriated catalysts in numerous pivotal processes.<sup>2</sup> In this context, we have centered part of our investigation on the employment of chiral (thio)urea for the development of new organocatalyzed asymmetric methods.<sup>3</sup>

Many of these model thioureas represented in Figure 1, have inspired further investigations and more complex scaffolds have been designed based on these pioneering structures.<sup>4</sup>



Figure 2

We want to disclose here the importance of thiourea organocatalysts for the efficient construction of heterocyclic compounds. In this chapter, we will cover representative examples where the heterocyclic ring is formed in the course of the reactions. We have selected some pivotal heterocyclic rings which are core structural motifs in many natural products and biologically active compounds (Figure 2). Many other examples that do not appear in this chapter have also successfully contributed to the expansion of Heterocyclic Chemistry.

#### 2. Synthesis of N-heterocyclic compounds

#### 2.1. Synthesis of tetrahydro-β-carbolines

Tetrahydro- $\beta$ -carboline rings are present in many natural and synthetic organic compounds possessing a wide diversity of important biological activities (Figure 3).<sup>5</sup> Pictet-Spengler reaction represents a wellestablished synthetic approach for the preparation of these systems.<sup>6</sup> In the last decade, the enantioselective version of this reaction has centered many efforts for accessing useful chiral building blocks.



Scheme 1

In this field, Jacobsen and co-workers pioneered in 2004 a thiourea catalyzed example of an acyl-Pictet-Spengler reaction, providing access to different *N*-acetyl  $\beta$ -carbolines **2** in high enantioselectivies (85-95%) and moderate yields (65-81%) (Scheme 1).<sup>7,8</sup> The authors envisioned the possibility of activating this procedure using thiourea catalysts based in the acyl-Pictet-Spengler reaction mechanism (Scheme 2) and in the previously reported ability of chiral thioureas to activate imines for the addition of diverse nucleophiles.

acyl-Pictet-Spengler reaction



#### 2.2. Synthesis of 1,4-dihydropyridines

1,4-Dihydropyridines (1,4-DHP) and their derivatives are important building blocks and versatile synthons in Organic Synthesis owing their biological and broad range of pharmacological properties (Figure 4).<sup>9</sup> However, their enantioselective synthesis has been less explored and the development of new chiral examples still represents an active synthetic challenge.



Takemoto's group has developed an interesting synthesis of functionalized 1,4-DHP **5** following a Brønsted acid–thiourea co-catalyzed asymmetric cycloaddition of  $\beta$ -enamino esters **3** and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehydes **4** using novel thiourea catalyst **II** (Scheme 3).<sup>10</sup> The authors proposed the mechanism depicted in Scheme 4 to explain the role of the catalyst in the course of the reaction.



Scheme 3



The ammonium salt complex **A** is formed from a mixture of thiourea **II** and a Brønsted acid (HX) (1:1) and it is the new bifunctional catalyst. Thus, enamino ester **3** and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehyde **4** should be activated by the ammonium proton and the conjugate base (X<sup>-</sup>), respectively, leading to the corresponding Michael product **6**. The desired 1,4-DHP **5** is obtained after subsequent intramolecular cyclization and dehydration of **6**. The merit of this strategy is that the acidity and basicity of complex **A** can be tuned by appropriate selection of the acid (HX).

#### 2.3. Synthesis of indolines

The indole core and its derivatives are privilege structural motifs present in many natural products and the construction of this skeleton is nowadays an active area of research in Organic Synthesis.<sup>11</sup> Special interest has received the preparation of chiral scaffolds bearing this core through metal- and organo-catalysis.<sup>12</sup> An important type of molecules belonging to this family is the indoline, which also exhibits interesting biological properties (Figure 5).<sup>13</sup>



In this field, Asano, Matsumara and co-workers developed a new method for the asymmetric synthesis of 2-substituted indolines **8**, employing bifunctional aminourea **IIIa** as catalyst and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carboxylic acid derivatives **7** as starting material (Scheme 5). Final indolines **8** were obtained in moderate to good yields (24-99%) and with high enantioselectivities (74-93%).<sup>14</sup>

The reaction is supposed to proceed *via* an intramolecular aza-Michael addition mediated by hydrogen bond interactions, although the authors did not propose any tentative activation mechanism. The catalytic

process was highly versatile and applicable to a wide range of  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carboxylic acid derivatives 7, among them, thioester analogues.



Scheme 5

# 2.4. Synthesis of pyrrolidines

Pyrrolidines are common cores in many natural products and pharmacologically active scaffolds, such as L-proline,<sup>15</sup> (–)-kainic acid,<sup>16</sup> swainsone,<sup>17</sup> (–)-mesembrine,<sup>18</sup> (–)-slaframine,<sup>19</sup> and lepadiformine<sup>20</sup> (Figure 6).<sup>21</sup> Many efforts have been devoted to the enantioselective synthesis of these functionalized structures due to their great importance, and the development of new catalytic approaches is currently of interest.<sup>22</sup>



Zhang and co-workers reported the first asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of azomethineylides<sup>23</sup> **12** with nitroalkenes **10** for the preparation of highly functionalized pyrrolidines **11** in good yields (49-77%), high diastereoselectivities (up to >99:1) and moderate enantioselectivities (46-65%) (Scheme 6).<sup>24</sup>

The authors envisioned that the enolate 12, which can be formed by treatment of 9 with a Lewis base, would attack the nitroalkenes 10, activated at the same time through hydrogen-bonds between the nitro

group of **10** and the NH protons of the thiourea catalyst **IV** (complex **A**), favoring the subsequent apparent 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6

Contemporaneously, Takemoto's group reported a similar 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition process catalyzed by chiral thiourea V (Scheme 7).<sup>25</sup> The authors proposed that the possible stepwise mechanism could proceed *via* a first Michael addition and a successive intramolecular aza-Henry reaction, as depicted in Scheme 7.



Scheme 7

In this mechanism, the formal azomethineylide would be formed by initial deprotonation of imine 13 and successive anchorage to the thiourea catalyst V through hydrogen bonds as shown in Scheme 7. The addition of an external proton donor 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE) is believed to activate the imine moiety of compounds 13 and it would stabilize the transition state by the hydrogen bonds.

Interestingly, Chen and co-workers reported the first asymmetric multicomponent version of this 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction using aldehydes 17,  $\alpha$ -aminomalonates 18 and nitroalkenes 19, catalyzed by chiral thiourea-pyrrol structure VI. They obtained the corresponding pyrrolidine compounds 20 in good yield (56-92%) and good enantioselectivities (60-91%) (Scheme 8).<sup>26</sup>



Scheme 8

Based on the absolute configuration of final pyrrolidine adducts, the authors invoked the concerted 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition shown in Figure 7. This process proceeds with the initial formation of an imine **21** from the aldehyde **17** and  $\alpha$ -aminomalonate **18**. The formal azomethineylide **21** stabilized by a hydrogen bond, would react with the *re*-face of nitroalkenes **19** activated by the thiourea group of the catalyst **VI** through a double hydrogen bonding interaction, in a formal [3+2] cycloaddition reaction in an *endo*-attack (Figure 7).  $\beta$ -Phenyl group of compound **19** directed away from the catalyst, avoiding the steric hindrance, would allow the formation of the aforementioned double hydrogen-bonding interaction between the thiourea moiety and nitrostyrene.



It is worth noting that in these three mechanisms (Schemes 6-8) the dipole is believed to be formed through deprotonation of the corresponding imine and subsequent activation by hydrogen bonds with the thiourea catalyst or with an additional proton donor, giving rise to the formal azomethineylide involved in the final step of the process.

#### 3. Synthesis of *O*-heterocyclic compounds

# 3.1. Synthesis of 2-amino-4H-chromene derivatives

Chromene scaffolds are a class of benzopyran derivatives commonly present in natural products and biologically active compounds. In particular, the synthesis of 2-amino-4*H*-chromenes has attracted much attention due to their pharmacological properties (HA14-1,<sup>27</sup> MX58151,<sup>28</sup> HFI-437,<sup>29</sup> and inhibitor of MK-2<sup>30</sup>) (Figure 8). However, although many procedures have been reported for the racemic version of these compounds,<sup>31</sup> asymmetric methodologies have been scarcely explored and they are of great interest.<sup>32</sup> Some groups have performed pivotal contributions in this field using chiral thiourea catalysts as efficient tool for the construction of these molecular architectures and they are represented and discussed in Schemes 9-11.



Wang and co-workers reported an interesting Mannich cyclization–tautomerization cascade procedure for the synthesis of **24** in high yields (81-94%) and good enantioselectivities (74-89%), promoted by catalyst

(1*S*,2*R*)-**VII**. The method was also applicable to different protecting groups in the  $\alpha$ -amidosulfone reagent **22** (Scheme 9).<sup>33</sup>

The same research group reported an interesting cascade approach for the obtainment of 2-amino-4*H*-chromene derivatives **26** in high yields (90-96%) and high ee values (59-76%), using a new bifunctional thiourea **VIII** (Scheme 10).<sup>34</sup>



Scheme 10

In both mechanisms the thioureas **VII** and **VIII** are envisioned to play a bifunctional role activating at the same time the nucleophile and the electrophile of these reactions through the basic function and the thiourea moiety of both catalysts.

Later, Yang, Liu and co-workers developed an interesting multicomponent reaction for the straightforward synthesis of similar functionalized chromenes 31 starting from salicylaldehyde 27, malononitrile (23)/cyanoacetate (28) and nitroalkane 29-30 using a simple tertiary amino-thiourea V (Scheme 11).<sup>35</sup>



This protocol represents a straightforward approach for the construction of chiral highly functionalized 2-amino-4*H*-chromenes **31** in good yields (41-92%) and with good enantioselectivities (58->99% ee) from simple starting materials.

At the same time, Wang and co-workers developed a different multicomponent reaction using diketone **34**, which allows the preparation of adducts **35a-d** (Scheme 12). The authors use a terpene-derived bifunctional chiral thiourea catalyst **IX** employing a low catalytic charge (2 mol%).<sup>36,37</sup>



Yang, Zhao and co-workers have reported the first synthesis of chiral naphthopyran derivatives<sup>38</sup> (a class of 2-amino-4*H*-chromene derivatives) using an efficient bifunctional thiourea V to promote the addition–cyclization reaction of 2-naphthol **37** with  $\alpha,\alpha$ -dicyanoolefins **36** under mild conditions (Scheme 13, a). The final adducts **38** were obtained in moderate to high yields (19-99%) and moderate to good enantioselectivities (56->99%).<sup>39</sup>



Scheme 13

Interestingly, the authors also explored the viability of the asymmetric three-component one-pot version, affording final products **38** with good results (67-93% yield and 33-65% ee), although slightly lower that employing the preformed malononitrile **36** (Scheme 13, b). The same group extended this reaction to a range of  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated  $\alpha$ -keto ester **40** instead of  $\alpha$ , $\alpha$ -dicyanoolefins **36** (Schemes 14).<sup>40</sup> In this case, the corresponding final chromene derivatives **41** were also obtained with good results (51-91% yield and 57-87% ee).



#### 3.2. Synthesis of flavanones and chromanones

Flavanone moiety is present in many biologically active products<sup>41</sup> that exhibit anti-tumor and antiinflammatory properties, among others.<sup>42</sup> However, methods which allow their asymmetric synthesis are very scarce in the literature.<sup>43</sup>

Scheidt's group has reported an enantioselective method for the synthesis of chromanones **43** starting from  $\beta$ -ketoester alkylidene substrates **42**. Concerning the mechanism, the authors envisaged that bifunctional quinine-derived thiourea catalyst **X** would promote an intramolecular conjugate addition of a deprotonated phenol over the activated  $\beta$ -ketoesteralkylidene to deliver the desired flavanones (R<sup>1</sup> = Ar) and chromanones **43** (R<sup>1</sup> = alkyl) (Scheme 15).<sup>44</sup>



Scheme 15

It is worth noting that after the cyclization step, the 3-carboxylate group (X) can be removed by treatment with acid in toluene without affecting the integrity of the newly formed stereocenter at C2. This decarboxylation process allows formation of enantioenriched flavanones in high yields since the 3-carboxy flavanone products **44** are firstly formed as mixtures of *cis* and *trans* diastereomers.

#### 3.3. Synthesis of pyrans and their fused derivatives

Pyran derivatives are a significant class of heterocyclic compounds which can exhibit biological and pharmacological activities (YCM1008A,<sup>45</sup> melicobisquinolinone B,<sup>46</sup> zhantosimuline,<sup>47,48</sup> huajiaoisimuline,<sup>47</sup> and cytotoxic fusaricide<sup>49</sup>) (Figure 9).<sup>50</sup>



Many of them could also be synthetic intermediate for the preparation of more complex scaffolds.<sup>51</sup> Consequently, the development of new synthetic approaches giving access to such compounds has attracted the interest of many research groups.<sup>52</sup>

In this field, Zhao's group has developed two interesting and straightforward methodologies using different nucleophiles for the chiral addition over  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated  $\alpha$ -ketoester 44. Malononitrile 23<sup>53</sup> and 3-oxo-3-phenylpropanenitrile 46<sup>54</sup> were used in each case to afford the corresponding pyrans 45 and 47, respectively (Scheme 16).

Other remarkable examples were developed by Wang and co-workers using (*E*)-3-benzylidenechroman-4-one  $48^{55}$  and 1,2-diones  $50^{56}$  as key substrates to access the target compounds, pyranochromenes 49 and 3,4-dihydro-2*H*-pyrans 52, respectively (Scheme 17, a and b).

Based on the experimental results, the first process is believed to proceed through an enantioselective cascade Michael-tautomerization sequence (Scheme 17, a) and the second one, through an enantioselective cascade Michael-enolation-cyclization process (Scheme 17, b). Both catalysts **VII** seem to play a bifunctional role in the activation of the reagents. In the second case, the catalyst **VII** would activate simultaneously the 1,2-cyclohexadione **50** and the  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated  $\alpha$ -keto ester **51** *via* its amine and thiourea functional groups, respectively, as represented in Scheme 18. After formation of Michael adducts **53**, enolization and subsequent *oxa*-nucleophilic attack would complete the cyclization step. Finally, two possible diastereoisomers would be in equilibrium in the final adduct **52**.





The coumarin structural core is present in a large number of natural products and biologically active molecules.<sup>57</sup> Many natural coumarin derivatives are precursors and synthetic intermediates in the construction of more complex structure and target compounds with interesting activities.<sup>58</sup> We have

considered these examples in this section because a pyran ring is generated in the course of the process,<sup>36</sup> since in all selected cases the authors use a coumarin derivative as starting material.



Scheme 18

In this field, Wang's group developed an efficient enantioselective synthesis of coumarin analogues with high yields (90-98%) and excellent enantioselectivities (90-98%) using a simple amine-thiourea **VIII** as bifunctional catalyst, which promotes the conjugated addition strategy (Scheme 19).<sup>59</sup>



Scheme 19

Zhao, Cao and co-workers also developed a similar approach using  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated  $\alpha$ -keto esters and a different thiourea catalyst **XI** with a low catalytic charge (5 mol%) (Figure 10).<sup>60</sup> Final chiral coumarin derivatives were synthesized in excellent yields (up to 99%) and excellent enantioselectivities (up to 96%) under very mild conditions (room temperature) within short reaction time (2 h).



Figure 10

Kim and co-workers reported an appealing example of the use of thiourea catalyst **XII**, employing 4-hydroxycoumarin **57** and  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated  $\alpha$ -keto esters **58**, giving access to biologically valuable warfarin analogues **59** (Scheme 20).<sup>61</sup>



Figure 11

Final adducts **59** are obtained with good yields (60-96%) and high enantioselectivities (87-99%) under mild reaction conditions. Similar results were achieved by Yan's group using Takemoto's catalyst (**V**) and also a bifunctional mechanism is proposed to explain the dual role of the catalyst (Figure 11).<sup>62</sup>

#### 3.4. Synthesis of tetrahydrofurans

The presence of tetrahydrofuran ring cores in natural products and biologically active agents,<sup>63</sup> such as fosamprenavir (pro-drug of the protease inhibitor and antiretroviral drug amprenavir<sup>64</sup>),<sup>65</sup> MK-287<sup>66</sup> and caribenolide I<sup>67</sup> (Figure 12), has promoted the development of numerous synthetic methods for their stereoselective preparation.<sup>68</sup> Among these methods, cycloetherification allows the obtainment of 2-substituted oxacyclic compounds in a straight way. Nevertheless, the enantioselective version of this reaction has not been intensively explored so far, and only few protocols have been developed. Some relevant examples catalized by thiourea are described below.



Matsubara's group envisioned the possibility of using a bifunctional thiourea for the construction of tetrahydrofuran rings following the dual mode of activation displayed in Figure 13.<sup>69</sup>



Based on this idea, they developed a highly enantioselective catalytic cycloetherification method for the synthesis of 2-substituted tetrahydrofurans using  $\varepsilon$ -hydroxy- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones **60** and thiourea cinchona derivative **IIIb**, as efficient catalyst (Scheme 21).

This method represents an interesting and straightforward synthetic approach for the preparation of new heterocyclic cores with a low catalyst loading and at room temperature.



Additionally, Matsubara and co-workers have also applied the use of chiral (thio)ureas as catalysts for the efficient obtainment of a wide variety of heterocycles, such as 1,3-dioxolanes,<sup>70</sup> tetrahydro-2*H*-pyran,<sup>71</sup> 1,3-oxazolidines,<sup>72</sup> 2-oxazolidinone,<sup>73</sup>  $\beta$ -mercaptolactones<sup>74</sup> and chromanes<sup>75</sup> (Figure 14).



#### 4. Synthesis of S-heterocyclic compounds

### 4.1. Synthesis of benzothiopyrans (or thiochromanes)

The presence of benzothio pyrans the structural core of more complex skeletons with biological activity, such as tertatolol,<sup>76</sup> 7-thia-DCK,<sup>77</sup> among others,<sup>78</sup> has encouraged the study of synthetic protocols, which allows their obtainment (Figure 15).<sup>79</sup>

Thus, Wang and co-workers have developed different works for the preparation of benzothiopyrans. The authors have employed for this purpose 2-mercaptobenzaldehydes **62** with maleimides **63** (Scheme 22),<sup>80</sup> or with  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated oxazolidinones **65** (Scheme 23),<sup>81</sup> and in both cases they envisioned the same bifunctional mode of action by the catalyst in a Michael-aldol cascade process.



More recently, the same group envisioned a Michael-Michael cascade reaction to obtain enantioenriched tiochromanes **69** through a dynamic kinetic resolution (DKR), as a new mode of activation of this kind of organocatalysts (Scheme 24).<sup>82</sup> To explain the high enantioselection, the authors proposed an alternative pathway because low enantioselectivity was observed when they performed the reaction between thiophenol and *trans*- $\beta$ -nitrostyrene under the same reaction conditions. In this case, based on the experimental results, they proposed a DKR-mediated Michael–retro-Michael–Michael–Michael cascade pathway, as represented in Scheme 25.



This interesting hypothesis was confirmed carrying out the reaction above described but starting from racemic compound **70** (Scheme 26).



Scheme 26

# 5. Conclusions

Organocatalysis is a research area in expansion, and (thio)urea organocatalysts in particular, have been intensively investigated in the last years. Some key (thio)urea-catalyzed synthesis of heterocyclic compounds have been disclosed and commented in this report. All these examples, together with many other interesting cases that have not been shown here, have strongly contributed to the development of Heterocyclic Chemistry. It is remarkable the importance of bifunctional thioureas as efficient catalysts in numerous processes of the abovementioned ones, since the dual role played by these molecules seems to be crucial for their success.<sup>83</sup> The better knowledge about the mode of action of the (thio)ureas and the design of new molecules of this type will necessarily continue contributing in the near future to Heterocyclic Chemistry by the development of new efficient organocatalytic methods, which will allow the obtainment of many others and more complex heterocyclic structural cores.

#### References

- 1. Pihko, P. M. (Ed.) Hydrogen Bonding in Organic Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2009.
- (a) Schreiner, P. R. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2003, 32, 289. (b) Takemoto, Y. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 4299. (c) Connon, S. J. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 5418. (d) Taylor, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1520. (e) Doyle, A. G.; Jacobsen, E. N. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5713. (f) Zhang, Z.; Schreiner, P. R. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 1187. (g) Marqués-López, E.; Herrera, R. P. An. Quim. 2009, 105, 5; (h) Kotke, M.; Schreiner, P. R. in Hydrogen Bonding in Organic Synthesis; Pihko, P. M., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2009; p 141. (i) Connon, S. J. Synlett 2009, 354; (j) Zhang, Z.; Schreiner, P. R. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 1187. (k) Takemoto, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2010, 58, 593. (l) Sohtome, Y.; Nagasawa, K. Synlett 2010, 1. (m) Narayanaperumal, S.; Rivera, D. G.; Silva, R. C.; Paixão, M. W. ChemCatChem 2013, 5, 2756. (n) Serdyuk, O. V.; Heckel, C. M.; Tsogoeva, S. B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2013, 11, 705. (o) Jakab, G.; Schreiner, P. R. in Comprehensive Enantioselective Organocatalysis; Dalko, P. I., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2013; Vol. 2, p 315.
- (a) Dessole, G.; Herrera, R. P.; Ricci, A. Synlett 2004, 2374. (b) Herrera, R. P.; Sgarzani, V.; Bernardi, L.; Ricci, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6576. (c) Pettersen, D.; Herrera, R. P.; Bernardi, L.; Fini, F.; Sgarzani, V.; Fernández, R.; Lassaletta, J. M.; Ricci, A. Synlett 2006, 239. (d) Bernardi, L.; Fini, F.; Herrera, R. P.; Ricci, A.; Sgarzani, V. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 375. (e) Herrera, R. P.; Monge, D.; Martín-Zamora, E.; Fernández, R.; Lassaletta, J. M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3303. (f) Alcaine, A.; Marqués-López, E.; Merino, P.; Tejero, T.; Herrera, R. P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 2777. (g) Marqués-López, E.; Alcaine, A.; Tejero, T.; Herrera, R. P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 3700. (h) Marqués-López, E.; Herrera, R. P. in New Strategies in Chemical Synthesis and Catalysis; Pignataro, B., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2012; p 175. (i) Alcaine, A.; Marqués-López, E.; Herrera, R. P. RSC Adv. 2014, 4, 9856. (j) Roca-López, D.; Marqués-López, E.; Alcaine, A.; Marqués-López, E.; Alerrera, R. P. Schön, E.-M.; Marqués-López, E.; Herrera, R. P. 2014, 12, 4503. (k) Schön, E.-M.; Marqués-López, E.; Herrera, R. P.; Alemán, C.; Díaz Díaz, D. Chem. Eur. J. 2014, 20, 10720.
- For pioneering works using these thioureas, see: ref. 3b and (a) Wittkopp, A.; Schreiner, P. R. *Chem. -Eur. J.* 2003, *9*, 407. (b) Tomotaka, O.; Hoashi, Y.; Takemoto, Y. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2003, *125*, 12672. (c) Sohtome, Y.; Tanatani. A.; Hashimoto, Y.; Nagasawa, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, *45*, 5589. (d) Sohtome, Y.; Hashimoto, Y.; Nagasawa, K. *Adv. Synth. Cat.* 2005, *347*, 1643. (e) Vakulya, B.; Varga, S.; Csámpai, A.; Soós, T. *Org. Lett.* 2005, *7*, 1967. (f) Wang, J.; Li, H.; Yu, X.; Zu, L.; Wang, W. *Org. Lett.* 2005, *7*, 4293. (g) Marcelli, T.; Haas, R. N. S.; Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2006, *45*, 929. (h) Fleming, E. M.; McCabe, T.; Connon, S. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2006,

47, 7037. (i) Liu, K.; Cui, H.-F.; Nie, J.; Dong, K.-Y.; Li, X.-J.; Ma, J.-A. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 923. (j) Jiang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, L.; Zhang, G.; Liu, X.; Zhang, H.; Fu, D.; Wang, R. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2009**, *351*, 2096.

- For reviews, see: (a) Bentley, K. W. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2004, 21, 395. (b) Cao, R.; Peng, W.; Wang, Z.; Xu, A. Curr. Med. Chem. 2007, 14, 479. (c) Laine, A. E.; Lood, C.; Koskinen, A. M. P. Molecules 2014, 19, 1544.
- For reviews, see: (a) Brown, R. T. in *Indoles*; Saxton, J. E., Ed.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1983; Part 4 (The Monoterpenoid Indole Alkaloids). (b) Bentley, K. W. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 2004, 21, 395. (c) Pulka, K. *Curr. Opin. Drug Discovery Dev.* 2010, 13, 669.
- 7. Taylor, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 10558.
- For an example of the application in total synthesis of an enantioselective thiourea-catalysed Pictet-Spengler reaction which give tetrahydro-β-carbolines, see: Kerschgens, I. P.; Claveau, E.; Wanner, M. J.; Ingemann, S.; Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 12243.
- For recent reviews, see: (a) Wan, J.-P.; Liu, Y. RSC Adv. 2012, 2, 9763. (b) Carosati, E.; Ioan, P.; Micucci, M.; Broccatelli, F.; Cruciani, G.; Zhorov, B. S.; Chiarini, A.; Budriesi, R. Curr. Med. Chem. 2012, 19, 4306.
- (a) Yoshida, K.; Inokuma, T.; Takasu, K.; Takemoto, Y. *Synlett* **2010**, 1865. (b) Yoshida, K.; Inokuma, T.; Takasu, K.; Takemoto, Y. *Molecules* **2010**, *15*, 8305.
- (a) Gribble, G. W. *Top. Heterocycl. Chem.* 2010, 26, 1. (b) Vicente, R. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2011, 9, 6469. (c) Ruiz-Sanchis, P.; Savina, S. A.; Albericio, F.; Álvarez, M. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2011, 17, 1388. (d) Taber, D. F.; Tirunahari, P. K. *Tetrahedron* 2011, 67, 7195.
- (a) Bandini, M.; Melloni, A.; Tommasi, S.; Umani-Ronchi, A. *Synlett* 2005, 1199. (b) Marqués-López,
  E.; Diez-Martinez, A.; Merino, P.; Herrera, R. P. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2009, *13*, 1585. (c) Bandini, M.;
  Eichholzer, A. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, *48*, 9608. (d) Terrasson, V.; de Figueiredo, R. M.;
  Campagne, J. M. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2010, 2635. (e) Zeng, M.; You, S.-L. *Synlett* 2010, 1289.
- 13. Zhang, D.; Song, H.; Qin, Y. Acc. Chem. Res. 2011, 44, 447.
- 14. Miyaji, R.; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 3658.
- Mothes, C.; Caumes, C.; Guez, A.; Boullet, H.; Gendrineau, T.; Darses, S.; Delsuc, N.; Moumne, R.; Oswald, B.; Lequin, O.; Karoyan, P. *Molecules* 2013, 18, 2307.
- (a) Coyle, J. T. Neur. Res. Prog. Bull. 1981, 19, 358. (b) Farooqui, A. A.; Ong, W.-Y.; Go, M.-L.; Horrocks, L. A. Med. Chem. Rev. 2005, 2, 379.
- (a) Colegate, S. M.; Dorling, P. R.; Huxtable, C. R. Aus. J. Chem. 1979, 32, 2257. (b) Cook, D.;
  Gardner, D. R.; Pfister, J. A. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2014, 62, 7326. (c) Hao, B.-c.; Liang, J.-p.; Yang,
  X.-p.; Liu, Y.; Wang, B.-h.; Wang, X.-h.; Liu, J.-z.; Zhao, M.-r.; Zhang, D. Med. Plant 2012, 3, 78.
- (a) Popelak, A.; Lettenbauer, G. *Alkaloids* 1967, *9*, 467. (b) Smith, M. T.; Crouch, N. R.; Gericke, N.; Hirst, M. J. *Ethnopharmacol.* 1996, *50*, 119.
- (a) Broquist, H. P. J. Toxicol. Toxin Rev. 1986, 5, 241. (b) Croom, W. J., Jr.; Hagler, W. M., Jr.; Froetschel, M. A.; Johnson, A. D. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73, 1499. (c) Michael, J. P. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2003, 20, 458.
- 20. (a) Verbist, J. F. J. Pharm. Belg. 1995, 50, 98. (b) Weinreb, S. M. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 2531.
- (a) Sardina, F. J.; Rapoport, H. *Chem. Rev.* 1996, 96, 1825. (b) Pyne, S. G.; Tang, M. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2005, 9, 1393. (c) Nair, V.; Suja, T. D. *Tetrahedron* 2007, 63, 12247. (d) Majik, M. S.; Tilve, S. G. Synthesis 2012, 44, 2673.
- (a) Coldham, I.; Hufton, R. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 2765. (b) Nájera, C.; Sansano, J. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6272. (c) Pandey, G.; Banerjee, P.; Gader, S. R. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 4484. (d)

Randjelovic, J.; Simic, M.; Tasic, G.; Husinec, S.; Savic, V. Curr. Org. Chem. 2014, 18, 1073. (e) Han, M.-Y.; Jia, J.-Y.; Wang, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2014, 55, 784.

- 23. Harwood, L. M.; Vickers, R. J. in *Synthetic Applications of 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry* toward Heterocycles and Natural Products; Padwa, A.; Pearson, W., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 2002; Chap. 3.
- 24. Xue, M.-X.; Zhang, X.-M.; Gong, L.-Z. Synlett 2008, 691.
- 25. Xie, J.; Yoshida, K.; Takasu, K.; Takemoto, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 6910.
- 26. Liu, Y.-K.; Liu, H.; Du, W.; Yue, L.; Chen, Y.-C. Chem. Eur. J. 2008, 14, 9873.
- 27. Wang, J. L.; Liu, D.; Zhang, Z.; Shan, S.; Han, X.; Srinvasula, S. M.; Croce, C. M.; Alnemeri, E. S.; Huang, Z. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2000**, *97*, 7124.
- (a) Kemnitzer, W.; Kasibhatla, S.; Jiang, S.; Zhang, H.; Zhao, J.; Jia, S.; Xu, L.; Crogan-Grundy, C.; Denis, R.; Barriault, N.; Vaillancourt, L.; Charron, S.; Dodd, J.; Attardo, G.; Labrecque, D.; Lamothe, S.; Gourdeau, H.; Tseng, B.; Drewe, J.; Cai, S. X. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, *15*, 4745. (b) Kemnitzer, W.; Drewe, J.; Jiang, S.; Zhang, H.; Wang, Y.; Zhao, J.; Jia, S.; Herich, J.; Labreque, D.; Storer, R.; Meerovitch, K.; Bouffard, D.; Rej, R.; Denis, R.; Blais, C.; Lamothe, S.; Attardo, G.; Gourdeau, H.; Tseng, B.; Kasibhatla, S.; Cai, S. X. *J. Med. Chem.* 2004, *47*, 6299.
- (a) Albiston, A. L.; Pham, V.; Ye, S.; Ng, L.; Lew, R. A.; Thompson, P. E.; Holien, J. K.; Morton, C. J.; Parker, M. W.; Chai, S. Y. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 2010, 78, 600. (b) Mountford, S. J.; Albiston, A. L.; Charman, W. N.; Ng, L.; Holien, J. K.; Parker, M. W.; Nicolazzo, J. A.; Thompson, P. E.; Chai, S. Y. *J. Med. Chem.* 2014, 57, 1368.
- (a) Anderson, D. R.; Hegde, S.; Reinhard, E.; Gomez, L.; Vernier, W. F.; Lee, L.; Liu, S.; Sambandam, A.; Snider, P. A.; Masih, L. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, *15*, 1587. (b) Mahmood, S.; Kumar, R.; Uday, C.; Rajani, B.; Nagamani, P. *Pharma Science Monitor* 2012, *3*, 1952.
- For selected examples, see: (a) Grée, D.; Vorin, S.; Manthati, V. L.; Caijo, F.; Viault, G.; Manero, F.; Juin, P.; Grée, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2008, 49, 3276. (b) Elinson, M. N.; Dorofeev, A. S.; Miloserdov, F. M.; Ilovaisky, A. I.; Feducovich, S. K.; Belyakov, P. A.; Nikishina, G. I. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2008, 350, 591. (c) Elinson, M. N.; Ilovaisky, A. I.; Merkulova, V. M.; Belyakov, P. A.; Chizhov A. O.; Nikishin, G. I. *Tetrahedron* 2010, 66, 4043. (d) Kumaravel K.; Vasuki, G. *Green Chem.* 2009, 11, 1945. (e) Murthy, S. N.; Madhav, B.; Reddy V. P.; Nageswar, Y. V. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2010, 51, 3649. (f) Ballini, R.; Bosica, G.; Conforti, M. L.; Maggi, R.; Mazzacani, A.; Righi, P.; Sartori, G. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 1395. (g) Abdolmohammadi, S.; Balalaie, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2007, 48, 3299. (h) Gao, S.; Tsai, C. H.; Tseng, C.; Yao, C.-F. *Tetrahedron* 2008, 64, 9143.
- For additional examples using chiral thioureas, see: (a) Ding, D.; Zhao, C.-G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2010, 51, 1322. (b) Ramireddy, N.; Abbaraju, S.; Zhao, C.-G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2011, 52, 6792.
- 33. Ren, Q.; Siau, W.-Y.; Du, Z.; Zhang, K.; Wang, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2011, 17, 7781.
- 34. Du, Z.; Siau, W.-Y.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2011, 52, 6137.
- 35. Yang, G.; Luo, C.; Mu, X.; Wang, T.; Liu, X.-Y. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 5880.
- 36. Zhang, G.; Zhang, Y.; Yan, J.; Chen, R.; Wang, S.; Ma, Y.; Wang, R. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 878.
- 37. The catalyst **IX** has been depicted as the authors represent this structure in their article, although we have serious doubts about the correct stereochemistry of this catalyst regarding the cinchone core.
- 38. El-Wahab, A. H. F. A.; Mohamed, H. M.; El-Agrody, A. M.; Bedair, A. H. *Eur. J. Chem.* **2013**, *4*, 467.
- 39. Wang, X.-S.; Yanga, G.-S.; Zhao, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2008, 19, 709.
- 40. Wang, X.-S.; Zheng, C.-W.; Zhao, S.-L.; Chai, Z.; Zhao, G.; Yang, G.-S. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2008**, *19*, 2699.

- 41. (a) Harborne, J. B. (Ed.) *The Flavonoids. Advances in Research Since 1980*; Chapman and Hall: New York, 1988. (b) Harborne, J. B.; Williams, C. A. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 1995, *12*, 639. (c) Chang, L. C.; Kinghorn, A. D. in *Bioactive Compounds from Natural Sources: Isolation Characterisation and Biological Properties*; Tringali, C., Ed.; Taylor & Francis Ltd.: London, 2001; Chap. 5. (d) Andersen, Ø. M.; Markham, K. R., Eds.; *Flavonoids: Chemistry, Biochemistry and Applications*; Taylor & Francis Ltd.: London, 2006.
- (a) Chen, H. Y.; Dykstra, K. D.; Birzin, E. T.; Frisch, K.; Chan, W.; Yang, Y. T.; Mosley, R. T.; Di Ninno, F.; Rohrer, S. P.; Schaeffer, J. M.; Hammond, M. L. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2004, *14*, 1417.
  (b) Tan, Q.; Blizzard, T. A.; Morgan, II, J. D.; Birzin, E. T.; Chan, W.; Yang, Y. T.; Pai, L.-Y.; Hayes, E. C.; DaSilva, C. A.; Warrier, S.; Yudkovitz, J.; Wilkinson, H. A.; Sharma, N.; Fitzgerald, P. M. D.; Li, S.; Colwell, L.; Fisher, J. E.; Adamski, S.; Reszka, A. A.; Kimmel, D.; DiNinno, F.; Rohrer, S. P.; Freedman, L. P.; Schaeffer, J. M.; Hammond, M. L. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, *15*, 1675.
- For some examples by resolution of the related alcohols, see: (a) Rakosi, M.; Tokes, A. L.; Bognar, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1970, 26, 2305. (b) Ramadas, S.; Krupadanam, G. L. D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3381. For some examples by substitution reactions, see: (c) Noda, Y.; Wantanabe, M. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2002, 85, 3473; (d) Hodgetts, K. J. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 6860.
- 44. Biddle, M. M.; Lin, M.; Scheidt, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 3830.
- 45. (a) Tatsuta, K.; Yamaguchi, T.; Tsuda, Y.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Hattori, N.; Nagai H.; Hosokawa, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2007, 48, 4187. (b) Koizumi, F.; Fukumitsu, N.; Zhao, J.; Chanklan, R.; Miyakawa, T.; Kawahara, S.; Iwamoto, S.; Suzuki, M.; Kakita, S.; Rahayu, E. S.; Hosokawa, S.; Tatsuta, K.; Ichimura, M. J. Antibiot. 2007, 60, 455.
- 46. Kamperdick, C.; Van, N. H.; Van Sung, T.; Adam, G. Phytochemistry 1999, 50, 177.
- 47. (a) Wu, S. J.; Chen, I. S. *Phytochemistry* 1993, *34*, 1659. (b) Chen, I. S.; Wu, S. J.; Tsai, I. L.; Wu, T. S.; Pezzuto, J. M.; Lu, M. C.; Chai, H.; Suh, N.; Teng, C. M. *J. Nat. Prod.* 1994, *57*, 1206.
- 48. Riveira, M. J.; Mischne, M. P. Synth. Commun. 2013, 43, 208.
- 49. McBrien, K. D.; Gao, Q.; Huang, S.; Klohr, S. E.; Wang, R. R.; Pirnik, D. M.; Neddermann, K. M.; Bursuker, I.; Kadow, K. F.; Leet, J. E. *J. Nat. Prod.* **1996**, *59*, 1151.
- 50. McGlacken, G. P.; Fairlamb, I. J. S. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2005, 22, 369.
- (a) Ellis, G. P. in *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry: Pyrans and Fused Pyrans: (ii) Reactivity*; Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C. W., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1984; Vol. 3, p 647. (b) Afarinkia, K.; Nelson, T. D.; Vinader, M. V.; Posner, G. H. *Tetrahedron* 1992, 48, 9111; (c) Kranjc, K.; Kocevar, M. *Arkivoc* 2013, (i), 333.
- 52. For an example using a non-chiral thiourea, see: Verma, S.; Kumar, S.; Jain, S. L.; Sain, B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 6943.
- 53. Zhao, S.-L.; Zheng, C.-W.; Zhao, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2009, 20, 1046.
- 54. Zhao, S.-L.; Zheng, C.-W.; Wang, H.-F.; Zhao, G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2009, 351, 2811.
- 55. Ren, Q.; Gao, Y.; Wang, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2010, 16, 13594.
- 56. Ren, Q.; Gao, Y.; Wang, J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2011, 9, 5297.
- 57. (a) Manolov, I.; Danchev, N. D. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **1995**, *30*, 531; (b) Vekariya, R. H.; Patel, H. D. *Synth. Commun.* **2014**, *44*, 2756.
- (a) Fylaktakidou, K. C.; Hadjipavlou-Litina, D. J.; Litinas, K. E.; Nicolaides, D. N. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2004, 10, 3813. (b) Sandhu, S.; Bansal, Y.; Silakari, O.; Bansal, G. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2014, 22, 3806.
- 59. Gao, Y.; Ren, Q.; Wang, L.; Wang, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2010, 16, 13068.
- 60. Chen, X.-K.; Zheng, C.-W.; Zhao, S.-L.; Chai, Z.; Yang, Y.-Q.; Zhao, G.; Cao, W.-G. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2010, 352, 1648.

- 61. Suh, C. W.; Han, T. H.; Kim, D. Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2013, 34, 1623.
- 62. Wang, J.-j.; Luo, J.-h.; Hu, Z.-p.; Lu, R.-J.; Nie, S.-z.; Du, Q.-s.; Yan, M. Arkivoc 2010, (ix), 229.
- 63. (a) Ghosh, A. K.; Sridhar, P. R.; Kumaragurubaran, N.; Koh, Y.; Weber, I. T.; Mitsuya, H. *ChemMedChem* 2006, *19*, 939. (b) Ghosh, A. K.; Anderson, D. D. *Future Med. Chem.* 2011, *3*, 1181. (c) Lorente, A.; Lamariano-Merketegi, J.; Albericio, F.; Alvarez, M. *Chem. Rev.* 2013, *113*, 4567.
- 64. (a) Kim, E. E.; Baker, C. T.; Dwyer, M. D.; Murcko, M. A.; Rao, B. G.; Tung, R. D.; Navia, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1181. (b) Shen, C.-H.; Wang, Y.-F.; Kovalevsky, A. Y.; Harrison, R. W.; Weber, I. T. FEBS J. 2010, 277, 3699.
- (a) Corbett, A. H.; Kashuba, A. D. M. *Curr. Opin. Invest. Drugs* 2002, *3*, 384; (b) Hester, E. K.; Chandler, H. V; Sims, K. M. *Ann. Pharmacother.* 2006, *40*, 1301; (c) Pinheiro, E. S.; Antunes, O. A. C.; Fortunak, J. M. D. *Antiviral Res.* 2008, *79*, 143.
- Girotra, N. N.; Ponpipom, M. M.; Acton, J. J.; Alberts, A. W.; Bach, T. N.; Ball, R. G.; Bugianesi, R. L.; Parsons, W. H. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 3474.
- 67. (a) Bauer, I.; Maranda, L.; Young, K. A.; Shimizu, Y.; Fairchild, C.; Cornell, L.; MacBeth, J.; Huang, S. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 1084. (b) Nicolaou, K. C.; Bulgera, P. G.; Brenzovicha, W. E. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2006, 4, 2158.
- 68. (a) Faul, M. M.; Huff, B. E. *Chem. Rev.* 2000, 100, 2407. (b) Kang, E. J.; Lee, E. *Chem. Rev.* 2005, 105, 4348. (c) Wolfe, J. P.; Hay, M. B. *Tetrahedron* 2007, 63, 261; (d) Jalce, G.; Franck, X.; Figadère, B. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2009, 20, 2537.
- 69. Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 16711.
- 70. Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 1620.
- 71. Fukata, Y.; Miyaji, R.; Okamura, T.; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Synthesis 2013, 45, 1627.
- 72. Fukata, Y.; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Chem. Lett. 2013, 42, 355.
- 73. Fukata, Y.; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 12160.
- 74. Fukata, Y; Okamura, T; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 2184.
- 75. Miyaji, R.; Asano, K.; Matsubara, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2014, 12, 119.
- 76. (a) Prisco, S.; Cagnotto, A.; Talone, D.; de Blasi, A.; Mennini, T.; Esposito, E. J. Pharmacol. Exp. *Ther.* 1993, 265, 739. (b) Castro, M. E.; Harrison, P. J.; Pazos, A.; Sharp, T. J. Neurochem. 2000, 75, 755.
- (a) Chen, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, B.; Xia, P.; Xia, Y.; Yang, Z.-Y.; Kilgore, N.; Wild, C.; Morris-Natschke, S. L.; Lee, K.-H. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2004, *12*, 6383. (b) Xu, S.-Q.; Yan, X.; Chen, Y.; Xia, P.; Qian, K.; Yu, D.; Xia, Y.; Yang, Z.-Y.; Morris-Natschke, S. L.; Lee, K.-H. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2010, *18*, 7203. (c) Liu, H.-S.; Xu, S.-Q.; Cheng, M.; Chen, Y.; Xia, P.; Qian, K.; Xia, Y.; Yang, Z.-Y.; Chen, C.-H.; Morris-Natschke, S.L.; Lee, K.-H. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2011, *21*, 5831.
- Vliet, L. A. V.; Rodenhuis, N.; Dijkstra, D.; Wikstrom, H.; Pugsley, T. A.; Serpa, K. A.; Meltzer, L. T.; Heffner, T. G.; Wise, L. D.;Lajiness, M. E.; Huff, R. M.; Svensson, K.; Sundell, S.; Lundmark, M. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 2871.
- 79. Reviews regarding the synthesis and biological application of benzothiopyrans, see: (a) Schneller, S. W. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1975, 18, 59. (b) Katrizky, A. R.; Boulton, A. J. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1975, 18, 76. (c) Ingall, A. H. in Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Boulton, A. S.; McKillop, A., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1996; Vol. 5, p. 501. (d) Bhanja, C.; Jena, S.; Nayak, S.; Mohapatra, S. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2012, 8, 1668.
- 80. Zu, L.; Xie, H.; Li, H.; Wang, J.; Jiang, W.; Wang, W. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2007, 349, 1882.
- 81. Zu, L.; Wang, J.; Li, H.; Xie, H.; Jiang, W.; Wang, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 1036.
- 82. Wang, J.; Xie, H.; Li, H.; Zu, L.; Wang, W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 4177.

83. For reviews about bifunctional organocatalysts, see: (a) Miyabe, H.; Takemoto, Y. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2008**, *81*, 785. (b) Connon, S. J. *Chem. Commun.* **2008**, 2499.